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APPENDIX 1 
 
Heritage Statement 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This report arises from the demolition of “The Crooked House” Public House, which occurred 
without notice between Saturday 5 August 2023 and Monday 7 August 2023 in breach of planning 
control.  
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The Site 
 
This report relates to the site which was, until recently, occupied by the Crooked House; a public 
house consisting of basement, ground and first floor levels. The site is surrounded by landfill sites on 
the site of the former Himley Colliery. The property was located at the end of Crooked House Lane, 
which is accessed from Himley Road (B4176) close to its junction with Brick Kiln Lane. The site is not 
located within a conservation area. 
 
History of the demolished building 
 
The Crooked House was built in 1765 and was originally a farmhouse. During the early 19th century 
mining in the area caused one side of the building to begin gradually sinking, leading to one side of 
the building being approximately 4 feet (1.2 metres) lower than the other. The subsidence caused a 
lean of 15 degrees in the original part of the building.  
 
The farmhouse later (c. 1830) became a public house called the Siden House, siden meaning 
'crooked' in the local Black Country dialect. The building was later renamed the Glynne Arms after 
the local landowner, Sir Stephen Glynne, on whose land it stood. 
 
The building was condemned as unsafe in the 1940s and was scheduled for demolition, but the 
Wolverhampton and Dudley Breweries purchased the pub and rescued it by making the structure 
safe using buttresses and girders to retain its lopsided appearance. The building was put up for sale 
in 2023. 
 
Description of the demolished buildings 
 
Architectural Details 
 
The Crooked House was built in 1765 as a farmhouse and became a public house circa 1830. The 
buildings lopsided appearance was as a result of subsidence that began during the 19th Century. 
 
Building Materials 
 
The original 1765 building was constructed of red/brown brick laid in a variety of bonds. The 1980s 
extensions were also of red brick laid in stretcher bond. The roof of the original building was covered 
in slate and had been recently replaced. All windows to the original building were of timber. 
 
Plan Form 
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The original section of the building was of rectangular form, with a three-bay façade. The modern 
extensions to the side and rear replaced original and old outbuildings. There was a small outbuilding 
with a gabled roof which formed the toilets, whilst the linking corridor connected to the large rear 
extension forming the restaurant and additional seating areas. This part was also of brick 
construction and had a mono-pitch lean to roof to the rear section and a projecting central gable to 
the front. 
 
The building original consisted of four rooms at ground floor level, shown on plans from the 1980s as 
opened out to three (bat to the right of the entrance and smoke room and children’s room to the 
left). The smoke room and children’s rooms were subsequently opened into one to create a bar, and 
the original bar became the lounge. As well as the outside toilets the original single storey portion to 
the side of the property contained a kitchen, scullery and store. The upper floor contained a sitting 
room, three bedrooms and a bathroom accessed off the central landing. The plans from the 1980s 
also showed the layout of the cellarage underneath the building. 
 
Exterior 
 
The principal elevation faced towards the access drive and was of two storeys. The façade was 
constructed as symmetrical with six over six sashes to the left- and right-hand rooms and a smaller 
six over six sash to above the central doorcase with a rectangular fanlight. The entrance to the public 
house was via the original front door with a small lobby. There were two stacks to each gable end. 
Where the internal steel frame protruded from the building on the southern gable end this and the 
upper portion of the gable was covered by slate tile hanging. 
 
The southern gable end of the building was supported by three large buttresses, which were in place 
by the early 20th Century (and are visible on the photographs from 1904 – 10). The two chimney 
stacks to the southern gable had been rebuilt in more modern brick during the later 20th Century and 
were vertical (adding to the effect of the lean on the building). The same was true of the two stacks 
on the northern gable end, which were rebuilt vertical and acted as buttressing to this gable end. 
 
A line of five pattress plates were visible on the front façade of the building in between ground and 
first floor. These round plates formed part of the structural works carried out in the second half of 
the 20th Century, these combined with the metal tie rods and corner plates that were visible in 
photographs from the early 20th Century to help stabilise the building and stop further movement. 
 
The signage to the front façade consisted of modern individual gold letters “The Crooked House” in 
between the central front door and first floor central window. In addition to this traditional sign 
writing “Banks’s Ales” was painted on the two sections of wall between the first floor windows. 
 
Interior 
 
The building's leaning walls gave rise to optical illusions. These included objects seemingly rolling 
uphill along the pub's dado rails and bottles appearing to roll upwards along tables. Furniture and 
fixtures appeared not to hang plumb, including the grandfather clock and the chandelier. In the 
1970s, the landlord claimed that the novelty of the pub brought visitors from as far afield as China, 
Russia, Japan, the United States, and Canada. 
 
Following the fire of the 5th August 2023, the structural steel framing put into the building during the 
20th Century in order to stabilise the structure became evident.  
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The interior of the public house consisted of two principal rooms within the 18th Century building, 
these were a bar to the left hand side and a lounge to the right had side. In the centre of the building 
was a small entrance lobby with doors to both the lounge and bar. There was also a door to the back 
of bar area in the centre of the building within this lobby. The door also had a shelf and sash window 
to allow the porch to be used as a servery. The left hand room contained fitted seating with panelling 
around the walls along with free standing tables and stools and a fireplace and mantle with mirror 
above to the gable end. There was also a large timber bar and sign-written “Fine Banks’s Ales Sold 
Here” signage above the bar. There was a grandfather clock within the bar area. 
 
The lower half of the walls in the central lobby were covered with relatively modern green glazed 
tiles with a detailed frieze consisting of fruit to the top. 
 
The lounge contained a modern timber bar and fitted seats with panelling around the walls. There 
were also free standing tables and stools as in the bar area. There were two fireplaces to the gable 
end, one containing a “Chattan Special” range style fireplace. The other fireplace contained a modern 
infill with a small stove and a large timber shelf above. The flooring throughout the ground floor of 
the old building was covered with traditional style red quarry tiles. 
 
 
DETAILED CONSIDERATIONS 
 
When the Crooked House was initially put up for sale enquiries were received with regards to status 
of the building. Following discussions with Staffordshire County Council the building was added to 
the Staffordshire Historic Environment Record (HER), this was done on 13th June 2023. This was in 
line with paragraph 192 (a) of the National Planning Policy Framework, with the local authority 
identifying the significance of the building as a non-designated heritage asset. The intention of the 
local authority was to assess the building and get it added to the local list, whilst an initial 
assessment of the building was undertaken, the process of adding the building onto the list could not 
be completed due to the demolition of the building. 
 
In the week prior to the fire, Historic England received two applications for listing of the Crooked 
House. These were in the process of being considered, but due to the timing of the fire the process 
had only just started. Following the fire approximately a further forty applications were received by 
Historic England for listing.  
 
Due to the total demolition of the building, it was not possible for Historic England to consider the 
building for listing. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The unauthorised demolition of the building has resulted in the loss of a building of architectural and 
historic interest. 

 
  



 

Page 4 of 11 
 

The Crooked House, Himley 
Heritage Assessment 
 
Assessment prepared by: 

 
Edward Higgins BSc (Hons), MA 
Senior Conservation Officer 
South Staffordshire Council 
 
I have been a local authority conservation officer since 2016 and have worked at both Lichfield District 
Council and South Staffordshire Council, on one day a week since August 2017 and full time since 
August 2023. Prior to working as a conservation officer I have previously been employed as a 
Townscape Heritage Initiative Project Officer for Bromsgrove District Council and been a self employed 
Archaeological Consultant in both the West Midlands and North Yorkshire. 
 
I have 17 years local authority experience as well as 4 years in private practice. I have a masters degree 
in Archaeology and Heritage Management from Leicester University. I have been an affiliate member 
of the Chartered Institute for Archaeology (CIfA) since 2009, and an affiliate (now supporter) member 
of the Institute for Historic Building Conservation (IHBC) since 2016. I have been Staffordshire County 
representative on the IHBC West Midlands Committee since 2017. 
 

Background to the case: 
 
The Crooked House was put up for sale by Marstons in March 2023, and the local authority were 
approached to enquire about the designation of the building as a heritage asset. It became clear that 
the building was not listed or entered on the South Staffordshire local list. An informal discussion was 
had with Historic England and local listing was believed to be the best route for protection. 
 
The council made contact with Staffordshire County Council about the addition of the building onto 
the Staffordshire Historic Environment Record (HER). This was done by Suzy Blake at SCC on 13 June 
2023. 
 
The building is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset, making the preservation of the 
building a material consideration in planning matters. The next step by South Staffordshire Council was 
to add the building onto the South Staffordshire local list. The current list (dated March 2015) is in the 
process of being reviewed, and it was the intention for the building to be assessed and added to the 
list when taking on the South Staffordshire conservation position in August 2023. This process was a 
priority job, however due to the demolition of the building this process was not able to be completed. 
Had the building not been demolished then it would have been recommended for addition onto the 
South Staffordshire local list. 
 

Heritage 
 
The Crooked House is recorded on the Staffordshire Historic Environment Record (HER), (PRN 
Number 59863 – MST23776) – see appendix 7. 
 
The built form on the site consisted of the original mid to late 18th century farmhouse, with extensive 
additions to the side and rear dating to the 1980s.  
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The building was constructed originally as a farmhouse in 1765 and was converted into a public 
house in around 1830. As a result of mining subsidence in the early 19th century (due to the buildings 
location within a colliery – see old Ordnance Survey mapping), the building sank at one end, resulting 
in one end of the building being over a metre lower than the other. The movement was gradual, and 
the building was secured and repaired over time leading to its characteristic lopsided appearance.  
 
The pub was previously called the Glynne Arms after the local landowner upon whose land the 
building stood and the Siden House (local dialect for crooked). It was deemed unsafe in the 1940s 
but was purchased by the Wolverhampton and Dudley Breweries who undertook a scheme of 
repairs, including the insertion of girders in order to stabilise the building and retain the crooked 
appearance. 
 

 

Ordnance Survey 
25-inch mapping 
(1892 – 1914) 
(https://maps.nls.uk)   
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Ordnance 
Survey 
25-inch 
mapping 
(1892 – 
1914) 

(https://maps.nls.uk) 
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As is typical with many Georgian buildings, the front (principal) façade had sash windows (6 over 6 
pattern), whilst the rear elevation contained more simple casement windows with arched heads. The 
original ancillary building associated with the building (presumably from when it was first built as a 
farmhouse) stood to the rear of the main building. These buildings were subsequently replaced by 
the large restaurant extension in the 1980s. 
 
Old photographs of the building show that there had already been a considerable amount of work 
done to secure the building in the late 19th and early 20th centuries. 
 

Significance 
 
Following the events at the start of August and the outpouring of grief for the loss of the building it is 
clear that the building was of significance to the local community. It is also clear from historic 
postcards of the pub produced in the early 20th century that the building already had an importance 
to the local area. 
 
Referred to as “Britain’s wonkiest pub”, it is clear that the significance of the building came from the 
appearance following the subsidence in the early 19th century. Whilst there had been additions and 
extensions to the building over the years, the significance of the building as a heritage asset 
remained with the original 1765 building and its lean. 
 

Harm 
 
Historic England define harm as: 
 
“Change for the worse, here primarily referring to the effect of inappropriate interventions on the 
heritage values of a place.”  (p71, Conservation Principles, English Heritage, 2008) 
 
It is clear that harm has been caused to this non-designated heritage asset. The level of harm that 
has been caused by the demolition is considered to be substantial harm. 
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Historic Environment Record 
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Assessed by: 
 
Ed Higgins, Senior Conservation Officer, South Staffordshire Council 
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APPENDIX 2 
 

Exterior photographs – Marstons (2023) 
 
Front elevation of the Crooked House prior to the repair works to the roof. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 2 of 26 
 

 
 
Google maps image of the Crooked House from the access road showing relationship of 1765 building to the 1980s 
toilet block to the right and the car park to the frontage. 
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Exterior photographs – Ed Higgins (January 2023) 
 
 
 
 
 
Photograph of front elevation of the 1765 building. Note the new roof slates (Ed Higgins, January 2023). 
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Photograph of front door. Not exterior door, and interior door with sash for servery. Modern step and handrail to left. 
(Ed Higgins, January 2023). 
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Detail view of the gable end of the 1765 building showing the three large buttresses and rear extension. 
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Interior photographs of the Crooked House – Virtually There (January 2023) 
 

Plan showing location of photographs: 
 
Photographs 1 – 30 taken from screenshots of virtal walk through of the Crooked House taken by Virtually There 
(virtuallythere.co) January 2023. 
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Photograph 1 

 
 

 
Photograph 2 

 
Photograph 1: Looking towards the back of the seating area in the bar. Casement window in rear wall of 1765 part of 
the building. 
Photograph 2: Looking towards the front of the bar area. Door to wash up and back of bar area to the left. Sash 
window to front elevation visible. 
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Photograph 3 

 
 

 
Photograph 4 

 
Photograph 3: General view of fireplace and seating within the bar area. 
 
Photograph 4: Detail view of the cast iron fireplace and mirror, along with built in seating in the bar area. 
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Photograph 5 

 

 
Photograph 6 

 
Photograph 5: Detail view of sash window (6 over 6) in front elevation of the bar area. View out towards access 
drive. 
 
Photograph 6: View of the bar area. Timber bar surround and grandfather clock to the left. 
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Photograph 7 

 

 
Photograph 8 

 
Photograph 7: General view of the bar area from the entrance. The grandfather clock, fireplace, panelling and quarry 
tiled floor all visible. 
 
Photograph 8: View into the entrance porch from the bar. Bar to the left. Front door visible within porch. 
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Photograph 9 

 

 
Photograph 10 

 
Photograph 9: View from lounge into the porch. Door into bar shut opposite. Door to back of bar area to left (see 
photograph 12). Green glazed tiles to lower part of porch (see photograph 11). 

 
Photograph 10: View from porch into lounge. Range style fireplace visible in centre (see photograph 15). 
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Photograph 11 

 

 
Photograph 12 

 
Photograph 11: Detail view of glazed tiles in porch with fruit motif. 
 
Photograph 12: Detail of door into back of bar area. Note central section with sliding sash and shelf (to serve into the 
porch area). Also note the angle of the door in relation to the surrounding porch.  
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Photograph 13 

 

 
Photograph 14 

 
Photograph 13: View of the lounge bar looking back towards the porch. 
 
Photograph 14: View towards the back of the lounge bar. Bar to the left and fireplace to the right. Casement window 
in rear wall of the 1765 part of the building matches to the one in the bar (see photograph 1 for details). 
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Photograph 15 

 

 
Photograph 16 

 
Photograph 15: Detail view of range fireplace, built in seating and shelving in lounge. 
 
Photograph 16: Detail of sash window in front elevation of 1765 element of the building (6 over 6, matching others 
to the front elevation). 
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Photograph 17 

 

 
Photograph 18 

 
Photograph 17: View of the bar in the lounge. Showing arrangement of the bar and view through to back of door in 
photograph 2. 
 
Photograph 18: General view of the two fireplaces in the lounge. 
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Photograph 19 

 
 

 
Photograph 20 

 
Photograph 19: General view of the lounge area within the 1765 building. 
 
Photograph 20: View towards the toilets in the 1980s parts of the building. Exterior brick wall of 1765 to right. 
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Photograph 21 

 

 
Photograph 22 

 
Photograph 21: Door into lounge from 1980s corridor to restaurant and toilets. 
 
Photograph 22: View towards restaurant area access. 
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Photograph 23 

 
 

 
Photograph 24 

 
Photograph 23: View from steps into 1980s restaurant extension. 
 
Photograph 24: View of bar area within 1980s restaurant extension. 
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Photograph 25 

 

 
Photograph 26 

 
Photograph 25: General view of restaurant extension. 
 
Photograph 26: View of bar area in restaurant looking back towards access steps. 
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Photograph 27 

 
 

 
Photograph 28 

 
Photograph 27: View into lounge area of 1980s extension. 
 
Photograph 28: View back towards restaurant from 1980s lounge. 
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Photograph 29 

 
 

 
Photograph 30 

 
Photograph 29: View of back of restaurant showing cast iron fireplace and metal arch topped windows. 
 
Photograph 30: Detail view of modern windows and seating to the rear of the modern restaurant extension. 
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Plan 2 – Sections illustrating form of 1980s Restaurant extension (rear extension) 
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Plan 3 - Sections illustrating form of 1980s Restaurant extension (rear extension) 
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Plan 4 – Plan illustrating general footprint and layout 
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Plan 5 – Floor Plan illustrating layout of the Building. 
 
 

 




